iOSLOC"J-'\ 
r05lJ:XS-l 

Court of Appeals No. 70568-7-1 

IN THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS 
DIVISION ONE 

MR. NICHOLAS UHRICH, and THE MARTIAL 
COMMUNITY THEREOF, 

Appella nt/P lai ntiff, 

v. 

MT. SI CONSTRUCTION, INC. 

Respondent/Defendant, 

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT 

" "-
Catherine C. Clar . - " 

The Law Office of Catherine C. Clark PLLC 
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4785 

Seattle, WA 98104 

i t ' 

I 

Phone: (206) 838-2528 
Fax: (206) 374-3003 

Email: cat@loccc.com 
Attorneys for Appellants

I. INTRODUCTION 

This cases involves the dismissal of Mr. Nicholas Uhrich's 

("Mr. Uhrich") case against Mt. Si Construction, Inc. (UMt. Si"), for 

injuries he sustained as a result of falling from a roof of a home on 

which he was working. It is undisputed, that Mr. Uhrich fell a 

distance of seventeen-feet six inches (17'6"). As he was at such a 

heig ht, the protective provisions of WAC 296-155-24515, a 

regulation under the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act, 

RCW 49.17 (UWISHA"), were triggered. WAC 296-24.012(20)(mm). 

It is also undisputed that Mt. Si did not provide a safety plan, 

did not provide a fall protection plan, did not instruct Mr. Uhrich to 

use fall protection equipment and it failed to provide a warning line 

system all required by WAC 296-155-24515. Despite these 

failings, the trial court dismissed Mr. Uhrich's claims against Mt. Si 

accepting its argument that it had no obligation to warn Mr. Uhrich 

or protect him from falling from the roof. 

This was error. In this appeal, Mr. Uhrich asks this court to 

reverse the trial court's summary judgment order dismissing his 

case and seeks to have it reinstated. He does not seek review of 

the trial court's denial of his own motion for summary judgment. 

1 



II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignment of Error No.1: The trial court erred by granting 

Mt. Si's motion for summary judgment and dismissing Mr. Uhrich's 

case. CP 282-284. 

Assignment of Error No.2: The trial court erred in finding or 

concluding as follows: 

1. Mt. Si had no reason to believe that Mr. Uhrich would be 
exposed to any hazard of falling from the flat roof. 

CP 282-284. 

Assignment of Error NO.3: The trial court erred in finding or 

concluding as follows: 

2. Thus, there was no "corresponding obligation to insist 
upon ... [Mr. Uhrich] using a safety harness or other fall 
protection device. See, WAC 296-155-24510. 

CP 282-284. 

Assignment of Error NO. 4: The trial court erred in finding or 

concluding as follows: 

3. As the flat roof qualifies as a "low pitched roof' as to 
which fall restraint or fall arrest systems are not required 
for a worker like plaintiff who is only on the roof to inspect 
or investigate roof level conditions. See, WAC 296-155-
24515. 

CP 282-284. 

Assignment of Error NO.5: The trial court erred in finding or 

concluding as follows: 
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4. It could be argued that a "warning line system" near the 
edge would still be required but any such failure could not 
have been the proximate cause of this injury since the 
plaintiff was acting quite deliberately when, for whatever 
reason, he went to and leaned over the edge of the roof. 
The edge of the roof presented a known and obvious risk 
to which he did not need to be warned. 

CP 282-284. 

III. ISSUES RAISED 

Issue No.1: Whether a contractor and/or a general 

contractor have a non-delegable duty to provide a safe work place? 

Issue No.2: Whether the provisions of WAC 296-155-24515 

are mandatory? 

Issue No.3: Was Mt. Si obligated to provide fall protection 

to Mr. Uhrich for his work under WAC 296-155-24515? 

Issue No.4: Whether Mt. Si was excepted from providing 

fall protection to Mr. Uhrich for his work under WAC 296-155-

24515(2)(a) which excepts fall protection for inspections, 

investigations or estimating prior to the beginning of construction 

work? 

Issue No.5: Whether Mt. Si failed to provide a warning line 

system as required by WAC 296-155-24515? 

Issue No.6: Whether the question of proximate causation in 

this case should be sent to the jury? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

On November 3, 2009, Mr. Uhrich was injured while working 

in his capacity as a journeyman electrician for his employer, Lander 

Electrical Services (ilLES"). CP 25. LES was a subcontractor to 

Mt. Si in relation to a project on a residence located in Lake Forest 

Park, Washington ("Project"). CP 25. Mt. Si was the general 

contractor on the Project. CP 64. Just prior to his injury, Mr. Uhrich 

was instructed to work on the roof of the home marking the as-built 

electrical wiring and switch locations on the roof with spray paint. 

CP 198. The purpose of this work was to locate and mark 

electrical wiring and switches located under the roof so as to 

prevent screws, nails, and other items from damaging them while 

additional work was performed. Mr. Uhrich was injured on his first 

day on the job within minutes of arriving. CP 198-199. 

When Mr. Uhrich arrived at the job site, Mr. Dave Arnold of 

Mt. Si took Mr. Uhrich through the job site and instructed him to 

locate the as-built electrical system as follows: 

.... And then he and I went back to the master bedroom, and 
I set up a ladder in a skylight that-we'd just built a skylight 
that the pitched skylight, there was no glass on it yet and it 
was right in the middle of a master bedroom addition to be 
done, and we went up through that and got onto the roof. In 
before he got there that morning, I'd gone up with a bucket 
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of paint, and I marked the lights in the switch locations on 
top of the roof with paint so he wouldn't have to search for 
them once he got there. I had the switches marked with an 
asked straight up above them on the roof deck, and I had the 
lights marked with the circle, in paint. 

(Emphasis added.) CP 198. In his declaration in support of Mt. 

Si's motion for summary judgment Mr. Arnold again confirmed his 

instructions to Mr. Uhrich: 

Before Mr. Uhrich arrived, I had marked on the roof with 
paint the location of all the lights and switches from the main 
floor below. I had determined those locations by taking 
measurements from the main floor below and then using 
those measurements and the house plans to locate the 
various switch and light locations on top of the roof. 
Most of the switch and light locations were towards the 
center of the roof. All of the switch and light locations were 
well away from the edge of the roof. The closest light or 
switch location to the west side of the roof where Mr. Uhrich 
ultimately fell was 7'6". I told Mr. Uhrich that his job was 
to simply trace the wire paths between the switch and 
light locations that were marked on the roof, and then to 
mark those paths with the paint I had supplied. Mr. 
Uhrich confirmed his understanding and began his work 
with a circuit tracer1 that he had brought with him. 

(Emphasis added.) CP 65 & CP 196. Mr. Arnold did not give Mr. 

Uhrich any warning about being near the edge of the roof nor was 

he instructed to stay away from it. CP 198-199. No safety plan 

(including a fall protection plan) was on site that day, Mr. Uhrich 

was not provided a copy of fall protection plan and it was not 

1 A circuit tracer is similar to a stud finder but is designed to find circuits and other 
hidden electrical installations. 
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discussed with him. CP 201. Further, Mr. Uhrich was not 

instructed to use fall protection equipment. CP 65; 198. Further, 

no one else was using fall protection that day per Mr. Arnold. CP 

204. 

Mr. Jason Pontious described what.,happened when Mr. 

Uhrich fell off the roof. 

CP 81 . 

Rather than walking over towards the painted marks on the 
roof, Mr. Uhrich walked over to the west edge of the roof in 
the opposite direction from where I had pointed . The roof at a 
gutter near the edge of the roof that measured approximately 
2 Y:z feet wide. The gutter had water in it at the time. Mr. 
Uhrich stood was both feet on the east edge of the gutter 
leaned over to the edge of the roof while commenting that he 
was just going to peak over the edge of the roof and take a 
look. As I saw Mr. Uhrich start to crouch down into the three
point stance I yelled, "Hey!" and reached out toward Mr. 
Uhrich to try to grab him. I was able to grab part of Mr. 
Uhrich's shirt and pants, but he fell over the edge of the roof 
and I was not able to hold him. This all happened very 
quickly. Mr. Uhrich went up to the gutter, leaned over the 
edge of the roof, started to place his hand and on the 
decorative trellis and fell write off the roof and one continuous 
motion 

As a result of the fall, Mr. Uhrich suffered a brain injury 

resulting in cognitive function loss, skull and facial fractures, brain 

damage, post-concussive syndrome, vision loss, double vision, 

optical myopathy, severe memory loss, soft tissue damage, broken 

teeth, or both fractures, and lacerations. CP 184. He has 
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undergone and continues to undergo numerous surgeries to 

reconstruct his face. CP 184. Additionally, he has had cognitive 

therapy, physical therapy, neurological therapy, back therapy, 

psychological treatment and counseling, and post-concussive 

therapy and treatment. CP 184. 

B. PROCEDURAL FACTS 

Mr. Uhrich filed his complaint on January 31,2012, which 

was amended twice. CP 1-4; 17-20; 24-27. Mt. Si answered and a 

discovery process followed. CP 37-40. In May 2013, the parties 

made cross motions for summary judgment. On June 17, 2013, the 

trial court denied the Mr. Uhrich's motion for summary judgment 

and granted Mt. Si's motion thereby dismissing Mr. Uhrich's case. 

CP 282-284. In its ruling the court made the following findings: 

1. Mt. Si had no reason to believe that Mr. Uhrich would be 
exposed to any hazard of falling from the flat roof. 

2. Thus, there was no "corresponding obligation to insist 
upon ... [Mr. Uhrich] using a safety harness or other fall 
protection device. See, WAC 296-155-24510. 

3. As the flat roof qualifies as a "low pitched roof' as to 
which fall restraint or fall arrest systems are not required 
for a worker like plaintiff who is only on the roof to inspect 
or investigate roof level conditions. See, WAC 296-155-
24515. 

4. It could be argued that a "warning line system" near the 
edge would still be required but any such failure could not 
have been the proximate cause of this injury since the 
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plaintiff was acting quite deliberately when, for whatever 
reason, he went to and leaned over the edge of the roof. 
The edge of the roof presented a known and obvious risk 
to which he did not need to be warned. 

CP 282-284. The trial court erred in reaching all of these 

findings/conclusions and by granting summary judgment in Mt. Si's 

favor. This appeal follows. CP 282-284. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW & RULES OF 
CONSTRUCTION 

The following standards and rules apply to this appeal. 

1. Mt. Si Did Not Meet Its Burden on Summary 
Judgment 

This Court's review of an order granting summary judgment 

is de novo meaning that the appellate court is in the same position 

as the trial court. E.g. Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp., 151 

Wn.2d 853,860,93 P.3d 108 (2004). 

Summary judgment is appropriate when there are no 

genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to 

summary judgment as a matter of law. CR 56; Carr v. Blue Cross, 

93 Wn. App. 941, 971 P.2d 102 (1999), citing Wilson v. Steinbach, 

98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). All facts submitted and 

all reasonable inferences from them are viewed in a light most 

favorable to the non-moving party. Michak v. Transnation Title Ins. 
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Co., 148 Wn.2d 788, 794-95, 64 P.3d 22 (2003). The moving party 

has the burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact 

and they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. LaPlante v. 

State, 85 Wn.2d 154, 158,531 P.2d 299 (1975). "But, [i]fthe 

moving party does not sustain that burden, summary judgment 

should not be entered, irrespective of whether the nonmoving party 

has submitted affidavits or other materials." Jacobsen v. State, 89 

Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977). As is shown below, Mt. Si 

did not meet its burden. 

2. Applicable Rules of Construction 

When interpreting a WISHA regulation, the court interprets it 

in light of the WISHA statutes and regulations as a whole. 

Netversant v. Oep't of Labor & Indus., 133 Wn. App. 813, 825, 138 

P.3d 3161 (2006). WAC's are interpreted as if they were statutes. 

Roller v. Oep't of Labor & Indus., 128 Wn. App. 922, 926 - 27, 117 

P.3d 385 (2005) (quoting Cobra Roofing Servs., Inc. v. Oep't of 

Labor & Indus., 122 Wn. App. 402, 409, 97 P.2d 17 (2004), aff'd, 

157 Wn.2d 90 (2006)). As such, this court's review of the trial 

court's interpretation of the applicable WAC's is de novo. Roller, 

128 Wn. App. at 926 - 27. Further, WISHA statutes and 

regulations are interpreted liberally to achieve their purpose of 
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providing safe working conditions for every worker in Washington. 

Inland Foundry Co. v. Oep't of Labor & Indus., 106 Wn. App. 333, 

336,24 P.2d 424 (2001) (citi RCW 49.17.010). 

When unambiguous, the courts will not look beyond the plain 

meaning of the words in the regulation . Mader v. Health Care Auth., 

149 Wn.2d 458, 473, 70 P.3d 931 (2003). In determining the plain 

meaning of the regulation, the courts may also look to the entire 

statutory scheme. Id. Further, all interpretations must give 

meaning to every word in the statute or regulation. Berrocal v. 

Fernandez, 155 Wn.2d 585,121 P.3d 82 (2005). The goal is to 

achieve a harmonious total statutory scheme and avoid conflicts 

between different provisions. Lee Cook Trucking & Logginb v. 

Oep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn. App. 471,481,36 P.3d 558 

(2001 ). 

B. MT. 51 BREACHED ITS NON-DELEGABLE DUTY 
TO PROVIDE A SAFE WORKPLACE 

In claiming negligence against a party, a plaintiff must show 

that a duty of care was owed by the defendant, the defendant 

breached that duty, the plaintiff was injured thereby and the breach 

by the defendant was the proximate cause of the injury. E.g. 
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Seiber v. Poulsbo Marine Cntr., Inc. 136 Wn. App. 731, 150 P.3d 

633,636 (2007). Whether a duty exists is a question of law. Id. 

1. Mt. Si is a Contractor as a Matter of Law 

As a predicate matter, Mt. Si falls within the statutory 

definition of contractor, and the more narrow statutory definition of 

general contractor. The definition of contractor is broad: 

"Contractor" includes any person, firm, corporation, or other 
entity who or which, in the pursuit of an independent 
business undertakes to, or offers to undertake, or submits a 
bid to, construct, alter, repair, add to, subtract from, improve, 
develop, move, wreck, or demolish any building, highway, 
road, railroad, excavation or other structure, project, 
development, or improvement attached to real estate or to 
do any part thereof including the installation of carpeting or 
other floor covering, the erection of scaffolding or other 
structures or works in connection therewith, the installation 
or repair of roofing or siding, performing tree removal 
services, or cabinet or similar installation; or, who, to do 
similar work upon his or her own property, employs members 
of more than one trade upon a single job or project or under 
a single building permit except as otherwise provided in this 
chapter. "Contractor" also includes a consultant acting as a 
general contractor. "Contractor" also includes any person, 
firm, corporation, or other entity covered by this subsection, 
whether or not registered as required under this chapter or 
who are otherwise required to be registered or licensed by 
law, who offer to sell their property without occupying or 
using the structures, projects, developments, or 
improvements for more than one year from the date the 
structure, project, development, or improvement was 
substantially completed or abandoned. 

RCW 18.27.010(1). As Mt. Si undertook the construction of the 

Project in its entirety it is a contractor. CP 64. Hinton v. Johnson, 87 
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Wn. App. 670, 942 P.2d 1061 (1997) (real estate developer was 

"contractor" within meaning of contractor's registration act, where 

he employed members of more than one trade to work on one 

particular development). 

Further, Mt. Si was a general contractor according to its own 

admission. CP 64. Mr. Arnold stated in his declaration: "On 

November 3, 2009, Mt. Si was the general contractor for a remodel 

project at a house in Lake Forest Park." CP 64. This admission 

clearly places Mt. Si within the definition of a general contractor. 

"General contractor" means a contractor whose business 
operations require the use of more than one building trade or 
craft upon a single job or project or under a single building 
permit. A general contractor also includes one who 
superintends, or consults on, in whole or in part, work falling 
within the definition of a contractor. 

RCW 18.27.010(5). 

2. Mt. Si Had a Non-Delegable Duty to Provide a Safe 
Work Place 

General contractors have a non-delegable duty to ensure 

compliance with all WISHA regulations for the protection of all 

employees on the jobsite, whether its own employees or those of 

an independent subcontractor. Kinney v. Space Needle 

Corporation, 121 Wn. App. 242, 248, 85 P.2d 918 (2004); citing 

RCW 49.17.060; Kamla v. Space Needle Corp., 147 Wn.2d 114, 
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122,52 P.3d 472 (2002) (citing Stute v. P.B.M.C., Inc., 114 Wn.2d 

454,464,788 P.2d 545 (1990)). 

In Stute, the general contractor P.B.M.C., Inc. contracted 

with Lincoln Highland Village Associates to construct a 

condominium complex. P.B.M.C. subcontracted with S & S Gutters 

to install gutters and downspouts. On March 13, 1984, Mr. Stute, 

an employee of S & S Gutters, was installing gutters and slipped off 

the roof, falling three stories. There was no scaffolding or other 

safety equipment to break the fall. Mr. Stute was injured by the fall. 

P.B.M.C. knew that employees of the subcontractor were working 

on the roof without safety devices. Stute v. PB.M.C., Inc., 114 

Wn.2d at 456. 

Stute sued P.B.M.C. alleging it owed him a duty to provide 

necessary safety devices at the job site. P.B.M.C. moved for 

summary judgment, which was granted. The trial court ruled that 

the general contractor did not owe Stute, an employee of a 

subcontractor, a duty to provide safety equipment because the 

general contractor had not voluntarily assumed the duty in its 

contract with the owner or subcontractor. The trial court also ruled 

P.B.M.C. had not retained authority to control the safety practices 

of the subcontractor. Stute v. P.B.M.C., Inc., 114 Wn.2d at 456. 
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The Supreme Court disagreed and reversed, holding that the 

statutory directive to employers to comply with safety regulations 

applies to employees of a subcontractor as well as to the general 

contractor's direct employees. Stute v. P.B.M.C., Inc., 114 Wn.2d 

at 457. 

The Supreme Court held that RCW 49.17.0602 creates a 

two-fold duty. Subsection (1) imposes a general duty on employers 

to protect only the employer's own employees from recognized 

hazards not covered by specific safety regulations. Subsection (2) 

imposes a specific duty to comply with WISHA regulations. Stute v. 

P.B.M.C., Inc., 114 Wn.2d at 457. Thus, the employer's liability 

depends upon which section is being invoked. The employer's duty 

only extends to employees of independent contractors when a party 

asserts that the employer did not follow particular WISHA 

regulations. In such a case, all employees working on the premises 

2 RCW 49.17.060 provides that each employer:(1) Shall furnish to each of his or 
her employees a place of employment free from recognized hazards that are 
causing or likely to cause serious injury or death to his or her employees: 
PROVIDED, That no citation or order assessing a penalty shall be issued to any 
employer solely under the authority of this subsection except where no applicable 
rule or regulation has been adopted by the department covering the unsafe or 
unhealthful condition of employment at the workplace; and (2) Shall comply with 
the rules, regulations, and orders promulgated under this chapter. 
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are members of the protected class. Id. "Thus, the specific duty 

clause of RCW 49.17.060(2), requiring employers to comply with 

applicable WISHA regulations, applies to employees of 

subcontractors." Id. 

In this case, it is undisputed that Mr. Uhrich was an 

employee of Mt. Si's sub-contractor, LES. Mr. Uhrich alleges that 

Mt. Si did not ensure compliance with certain WISHA regulations. 

Therefore, he is a member of the protected class described by 

RCW 49.17.060(2). As demonstrated herein, Mt. Si did not ensure 

compliance with WISHA, which noncompliance ultimately led to Mr. 

Uhrich's injuries. 

3. WAC 296-155 Has Broad Application 

WAC 296-24-005 provides. 

The rules in this chapter are designed to protect the safety 
and health of employees by creating a healthy work 
environment by establishing requirements to control safety 
hazards in the workplace. Chapter 296-800 WAC, the safety 
and health core rules, contain safety and health rules that 
apply to most workplaces. Other special industry rules 
complement the rules found in this chapter and in the safety 
and health core rules. 

WAC 296-155, entitled "Safety Standards for Construction 

Work" complement the rules set forth in WAC 296-24. The purpose 

and scope of both WAC 296-24 and WAC 296-155 is broad and 

protective. WAC 296-155-005(1) provides:

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