#### NO. 70568-7-1

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NICHOLAS UHRICH, and THE MARITAL COMMUNITY THEREOF,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

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

#### VIII. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

An Appellate court reviewing a grant of summary judgment engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Little v. Countrywood Homes 132 Wn. App. 777, 779, 133 P.3d 944 (2006). Summary judgment should be granted when, after viewing the pleadings, depositions, admissions and affidavits reasonable inferences that may be drawn there from in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, it can be stated as a matter of law that (1) there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, (2) all reasonable persons could reach only one conclusion, and (3) the moving party is entitled to judgment. Olympic Fish Products v. Lloyd, 93 Wn.2d 596, 611 P.2d 737 (1980). When a motion for summary judgment is supported by evidentiary matter, the adverse party may not rest on mere allegations in the pleadings but must set forth specific admissible facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *LePlante v. State*, 85 Wn.2d 154, 531 P.2d 299 (1975).

A defendant in a civil action is entitled to summary judgment when the defendant shows there is an absence of evidence supporting an element essential to plaintiff's claim. *Carlyle v. Safeway Stores, Inc.,* 78 Wn. App. 272 896 P.2d 750 (1995). The defendant may support a motion for summary judgment by merely challenging the sufficiency of plaintiff's evidence as to any material issue. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals* 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989).

B. The trial court properly granted Mt. Si's summary judgment motion because Mt. Si did not negligently fail to provide fall protection equipment for Plaintiff.

In order to demonstrate negligence, Plaintiff must prove the following elements:

The tort complained of in the case at hand is negligence, which consists of (1) the existence of a duty owed to the complaining party, (2) a breach thereof, and (3) a resulting injury. Rosendahl v. Lesourd Methodist Church, 68 Wn.2d 180, 412 P.2d 109 (1966); Christensen v. Weyerhaeuser Timber Co., 16 Wn.2d 424, 133 P.2d 797 (1943). For legal responsibility to attach to the negligent conduct, the claimed breach of duty

must be a proximate cause of the resulting injury.

LePlante v. State, supra at 159.

Plaintiff claims Mt. Si was negligent because it did not provide fall protection gear for him. The Court should reject Plaintiff's contention. First, fall protection gear was available to Plaintiff, both through Mt. Si and through Plaintiff's employer. Second, fall protection gear was not required for the work that Plaintiff was doing on this flat roof. Consequently, Plaintiff failed to show breach of duty or proximate cause.

#### Fall protection gear was available for Plaintiff's use.

It is undisputed fall protection gear was available for Plaintiff's use at the time of his accident. Mt. Si had safety harnesses and lanyards available for use on site at the project. See Dep. David Arnold, 27:12-16; CP 167. In addition, both Plaintiff and his supervisor at Lander Electric confirmed that Plaintiff had his own fall protection gear available to him in his work van at the site. See Department of Labor and Industries' interview with Plaintiff Nicholas Uhrich attached to Affidavit of Keith A. Bolton as Exhibit 6; CP 180.<sup>1</sup> It is undisputed Plaintiff had fall protection gear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Plaintiff was familiar with fall protection gear, having used it numerous times before this accident. See Dep. Nicholas Uhrich, pages 30 and 37 attached to

available for his use if he had wanted it. Plaintiff's failure to wear fall protection gear was not proximately caused by Mt. Si, and Mt. Si has no liability for Plaintiff's failure to wear protective gear that was readily available to him.

2. WAC 296-155-040 did not require Mt. Si to ensure that Plaintiff was using fall protection gear as part of his assigned scope of work.

Plaintiff claims that WAC 296-155-040 required Mt. Si to ensure that Plaintiff used fall protection gear as part of his work. That is not true. WAC 296-155-040 was just a general statement requiring employers to do what is "reasonably necessary" to provide a safe work environment, including providing and using safety devices where their use is required. However, WAC 296-155-140 does not govern when fall protection gear is or is not required. Rather, WAC 296-155-24510 and 296-155-24515 are the

Affidavit of Keith A. Bolton as Exhibit 4; CP 110, 114. Plaintiff clearly understood the purpose of fall protection gear. He testified:

Q So you understood before our accident that where there was a situation where there was a potential for falling at a height over ten feet, a harness and a line would be one means of protecting you against that risk, correct?

A Yes.

Dep. Nicholas Urhich, 37:14-18; CP 114.

regulations that specify when fall protection equipment is needed and when it is not needed. As seen below, those regulations did not require fall protection gear for Plaintiff's scope of work.

3. WAC 296-155-24510 did not require Plaintiff to use fall protection gear for his scope of work.

WAC 296-155-24510 required employers to ensure that fall protection equipment was provided, installed, and implemented "when employees are exposed to a hazard of falling from a location 10 feet or more in height". In order for fall protection to be required, Plaintiff must prove two things: (1) that his work exposed him to a hazard of falling, and (2) the hazard of falling was 10 feet or more in height. Under this regulation, the dispositive issue is not simply height, as Plaintiff has argued. If there is no exposure to a hazard of falling, it does not matter what height the work area is above the ground level. Rather, pursuant to this regulation Plaintiff must first prove his scope of work exposed him to a hazard of falling.

There is no evidence whatsoever in the record that Plaintiff's scope of work exposed him to a hazard of falling. Indeed, Plaintiff has not even argued that. On the contrary, it is undisputed Plaintiff's scope of work did not expose him to any hazard of falling because the scope was all well away from the edge of the roof.

Most of the switch and light locations were towards the center of the roof. CP 65. All of the switch and light locations were well away from the edge of the roof. CP 65. The closest light or switch location to the west side of the roof where Mr. Uhrich ultimately fell was 7' 6". CP 65. It is also undisputed that Mr. Uhrich's scope of work did not include getting anywhere near the edge of the roof or working in any area where there was a potential fall hazard. CP 66. Plaintiff's assigned scope of work was in an area that was as free from the hazard of falling as if he had been in an enclosed room. Plaintiff failed to set forth any facts to support a claim that his assigned work presented any hazard of falling. Consequently, WAC 296-155-24510 did not require Plaintiff to use fall protection gear for his scope of work.

WAC 296-155-24515 did not require
 Plaintiff to use fall protection gear for his scope of work.

WAC 296-155-24515 provided that no fall restraint or fall arrest systems were required for certain types of low risk work on low pitched roofs. A "low pitched roof" was defined as a roof having a slope equal to or less than 4 in 12. See WAC 296-155-24503. It is undisputed the roof in question was a flat roof. CP 64,

137. Consequently, the roof qualified as a low pitched roof for purposes of WAC 296-155-24515. That WAC regulation provided in relevant part:

#### (2) Exceptions.

(a) The provisions of subsection (1)(a) of this section [relating to fall restraint or fall arrest systems] do not apply at points of access such as stairways, ladders, and ramps, or when employees are on the roof only to inspect, investigate, or estimate roof level conditions.

#### WAC 296-155-24515(2).

It is undisputed Plaintiff was only on the roof to inspect, investigate, and estimate the location of wire paths in the roof. He was not doing "roofing work" as defined by the regulations.<sup>2</sup> Contrary to Plaintiff's assertion, Plaintiff's scope of work of locating

"Roofing work" means the hoisting, storage, application, and removal of roofing materials and equipment, including related insulation, sheet metal, and vapor barrier work, but not including the construction of the roof deck.

#### Plaintiff testified:

Q The work that you were doing up there on the roof was not roofing work, was it?

A No

Dep. Nicholas Uhrich, 80:3-5; CP 145.

WAC 296-155-24503 defined roofing work as follows:

and marking the wire paths fits exactly within the meaning of the terms, "inspect, investigate, or estimate roof level conditions." Plaintiff's scope of work of examining and investigating the roof wire locations and noting their estimated location on the roof fits exactly within the meaning of the regulations' exception. Plaintiff's scope of work is not only consistent with the letter of the exception, but with its purpose as well. The rational for the exception to use of fall restraint gear with respect to a flat roof is clear. Where a worker is simply inspecting or investigating or estimating low pitched roof conditions there is no need for fall restraint or fall arrest gear. The worker is not likely to be distracted from the hazard of falling, and the low pitched nature of the roof also significantly reduces the exposure to falling. That was certainly the case with respect to Plaintiff's assigned task. He was not doing roofing work. Consequently, he was not moving backwards towards a roof edge while nailing or laying roofing material. Plaintiff was simply investigating and estimating the location of wire paths on a flat roof. It is undisputed Plaintiff's work did not require him to get anywhere near the edge of the roof. All of the switch and light locations were well away from the edge of the roof. See Declaration of David Arnold at 2-4; CP 65-67. Plaintiff further admitted he had no

evidence that any of his work required him to go over to the edge of the roof. Plaintiff testified:

- Q There was no need for -- well, in tracing any of these lines that were up on the roof that day, there wasn't any need for you to get so close to the edge of the roof that there was a danger of your falling, was there?
- A I don't recall.
- Q At any time while you were up on the roof doing the work, did you ever believe that you had to get so close to the edge of the roof to do your work that there might have been a potential of your falling off the roof?
- A Not that I can remember. . . .
- Q So you can't actually testify that you know you had to go over to the edge of the roof to trace a particular wire; is that correct?
- A No, I cannot say --
- Q Is that correct?
- A That's correct.

Dep. Nicholas Uhrich, 76:18-77:2; 64:11-16; CP 141-142, 132. Since Plaintiff's scope of work did not involve roofing work, and simply involved investigation of a flat roof condition that did not require Plaintiff to be in an area where he had any potential fall

hazard, Plaintiff was not required to use fall protection gear. WAC 296-155-24515(2).<sup>3</sup>

 RCW 49.17.010 and OSHA did not require Mt. Si to insure that Plaintiff was using fall protection gear as part of his assigned scope of work.

Finally, Plaintiff claims RCW 49.17.010 and OSHA regulation 29 CFR, § 1926.500(a)(1) required Mt. Si to insure that Plaintiff was using fall protection gear as part of his assigned scope of work. The Court should reject that argument. First, RAP 9.12 provides in relevant part:

On review of an order granting or denying a motion for summary judgment the appellate court will consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court.

The purpose of this limitation is to effectuate the rule that the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. See, e.g., Washington Federation of State Employees v. the Office of Financial Management, 121 Wn.2d 152, 157, 849 P.2d 1201

Plaintiff's reliance upon *Stute v. PBMC*, *Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 454, 788 P.2d 545 (1990), is misplaced. Unlike the case at bar, the *Stute* case did not involve a flat roof. The *Stute* case did not involve WAC 296-155-24515 relating to inspection, investigation, or estimating roof level conditions on a low pitched roof. *Stute* has no bearing on whether Plaintiff was required to wear fall protection gear for his scope of work on this flat roof.

(1993). Plaintiff did not raise arguments about RCW 49.17.010 and OSHA regulations at the trial court on summary judgment. Consequently, Those arguments may not be considered by the Court of Appeals for the first time on appeal.

Second, OSHA only applies where interstate commerce is involved. See 29 USC § 651, attached as Appendix 5. There is no interstate commerce involved in this case and OSHA does not apply.<sup>4</sup>

Third, even if OSHA applied to Plaintiff's work here, which it does not, Plaintiff has not proved his accident was proximately caused by Mt. Si violating an applicable OSHA regulation. The regulation Plaintiff cited, 29 CFR 1926.500(a)(1), applies only to inspection, investigation, or assessment of workplace conditions that occur either prior to the actual start of construction work, or after all construction work has been completed:

# § 1926.500 Scope, application, and definitions applicable to this subpart.

RCW 49.17.010, cited by Plaintiff, simply states that the legislature's purpose is to create a state industrial safety and health program which equals or exceeds the OSHA standards. The statute does not say that in non-interstate commerce issues Washington will defer to any similar OSHA standards. Neither does the statute say that in non-interstate commerce issues Washington will deem OSHA to preempt WISHA. Finally, the statute also does not say that in non-interstate commerce issues federal interpretations of OSHA standards will apply to Washington interpretations of similar WISHA standards.

(a) Scope and application. (1) This subpart sets forth requirements and criteria for fall protection in construction workplaces covered under 29 CFR part 1926. Exception: The provisions of this subpart do not apply when employees are making an inspection, investigation, or assessment of workplace conditions prior to the actual start of construction work or after all construction work has been completed.

29 CFR § 1926.500(a)(1). By its express terms, the regulation had no application to the case at bar, where construction work was underway.

Even if 29 CFR § 1926.500(a)(1) did apply to the case at bar, which it does not, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration interpreted the regulation in a manner that actually supports Mt. Si's position and the trial court's dismissal of Plaintiff's lawsuit:

OSHA has set this exception because employees engaged in inspecting. investigating and assessing workplace conditions before the actual work begins or after the work has been completed are exposed to fall hazards for very short durations, if at all, since they most likely would be able to accomplish their work without going near the danger zone. . . [R]equiring the installation of fall protection systems under such circumstances expose the employee who installs those systems to falling hazards for a longer time than the person performing an inspection or similar work.

See Appendix A to Appellant's brief (Emphasis added). In short, OSHA's interpretation of its regulation exempting inspectors from the requirement of wearing fall protection gear, states that there is no need for fall protection gear when those workers can accomplish their work without getting near the danger zone. Fall protection gear is designed for workers who are working in such close proximately to the edge of the roof that they are at risk of falling, or whose work is so distracting that they will not recognize when they get near the edge of the roof and will therefore be at risk of falling. However, in the case at bar, it is undisputed Plaintiff's scope of work did not require him to be anywhere near the edge of the roof, or anywhere near the location where there was a risk of his falling. It is also undisputed that the nature of Plaintiff's scope of work was such that he was not exposed to distractions or to the risk of his getting near the edge of the roof without his being aware of it. On the contrary, the undisputed facts show Plaintiff knew exactly where the edge of the roof was, because he walked right up to it, knelt down in a three-point stance, and leaned over the edge to look down inside a window. CP 81.

In summary, as a matter of law Mt. Si did not negligently fail to provide fall protection equipment for Plaintiff because neither OSHA nor WISHA required Plaintiff to use fall protection gear for his scope of work, and the gear was readily available for Plaintiff's use in any event.

# C. Mt. Si had no duty to warn Plaintiff, and the absence of a warning did not proximately cause Plaintiff's accident.

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